No 48187-1-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON

 $V_{\cdot \cdot}$

ERIK PETTERSON

BRIEF OF APPELLANI

Thomas E. Weaver WSBA #22488 Attorney for Appellant

The Law Office of Thomas E Weaver P.O. Box 1056 Bremerton, WA 98337 (360) 792-9345

A. Assignment of Error

Assignment of Error

The trial court erred by vacating its Order Modifying Community

Custody Conditions seven years after entering the order when there was

not a material change in circumstances

Issue Pertaining to Assignment of Error

- 1. Was the Department equitably estopped from bringing the motion to modify Mr. Petterson's community custody conditions seven years after it acquiesced to the modifications?
- 2. Did the trial court err by concluding it did not have the statutory authority to modify the community custody conditions of a probationer serving a SSOSA sentence?

B. Statement of Facts

Erik Petterson, born October 15, 1968, was charged in Kitsap County Superior Court on October 22, 2001 with one count of first degree child molestation for an incident that occurred on October 13, 2001 CP, 1 The legislature had just amended the penalty statute for this offense, effective 43 days earlier on September 1, 2001, to require

lifetime community custody for anyone convicted of this offense. See former RCW 9.94A 712 (recodified with minor changes as RCW 9.94A 507). Therefore, Mr. Petterson represents one of the first individuals charged under the terms of this statute.

On February 11, 2002, Mr. Petterson petitioned for and was granted a SSOSA sentence pursuant to RCW 9.94A.670 CP, 6 At the time of sentencing, the Court entered a Judgment and Sentence with all the mandatory and discretionary conditions set out in RCW 9 94A 670 The Court ordered a minimum sentence of 68 months, with 62 months suspended, and a maximum sentence of life CP, 7 Importantly, the Court ordered that the "Defendant shall report to DOC no later than 72 hours after release from custody and shall comply with all conditions stated in this Judgment and Sentence, including those checked in the Supervision Schedule, and other conditions imposed by the court or DOC during community custody." CP, 8

On October 4, 2005, Mr. Petterson appeared for his treatment termination hearing as contemplated by RCW 9.94A 670(9). CP, 14. At that time, he had completed his three years of treatment and there was a joint request to terminate him from treatment. The Court granted the motion and signed an order CP, 15. Inexplicably, the Order terminated him from both treatment and community custody. The mistake was discovered in late 2006 and on December 5, 2006, the State filed a

motion to amend the order CP, 17. The motion was eventually granted on March 9, 2007. Mr. Petterson appealed that order CP, 24. This Court affirmed on March 11, 2008, holding that the October 4, 2005 order was a scrivener's error correctable pursuant to CrR 7.8(a). See 36048-9-II See, generally, RP, 1-4 (April 18, 2008). The mandate issued on April 21, 2008.

On April 28, 2008, the parties held a hearing to discuss what should happen next in light of the Court of Appeals decision. Mr. Petterson moved to be terminated entirely from community custody RP, 4 (April 18, 2008) The motion was supported by his then Community Corrections Officer (CCO) David Payne. RP, 4 (April 18, 2008). Mr. Petterson argued that because the SSOSA statute gives judges the authority to "modify" community custody conditions, it may terminate the conditions entirely or, in the alternative, modify them. RP, 6 (April 18, 2008). The prosecutor, represented by DPA Kevin Hull¹, objected to the motion. RP, 6 (April 18, 2008). The Court held it lacked the authority to terminate community custody, noting that the statute says "modify, not "terminate" RP, 9 (April 18, 2008). Mr. Petterson then argued that the Court should modify the community custody conditions to delete many of the provisions, including polygraphs, urinalysis, and regular reporting.

¹ Currently a Kitsap County Superior Court judge

RP, 10 (April 18, 2008). The Court decided to defer a decision to allow CCO Payne to be present. RP, 11-12 (April 18, 2008)

The Court reconvened on May 5, 2008 with DPA Hull and CCO Payne both present. CCO Payne opined that, regardless of what the Court decided to do, short of terminating Mr. Petterson entirely, the Department would continue to actively supervise him, including polygraphs and regular reporting. RP, 4-5 (May 5, 2008). The reason was the Department may be exposed to civil liability if it did not continue to supervise RP, 4 (May 5, 2008). The parties took note of RCW 9.94A 715(2)(c), which states the department may not impose conditions which contravene the Court's order, RP, 6 (May 5, 2008). DPA Hull expressly told the Court that the statute gives the court authority to modify the community custody conditions RP, 8 (May 5, 2008). DPA Hull also expressed a concern that he does not represent the Department of Corrections and it may be appropriate to have an attorney from the attorney general's office present, RP, 8-9 (May 5, 2008). CCO Payne agreed that legal representation from the attorney general's office was appropriate RP, 10 (May 5, 2008). The Court expressed a concern that the department was essentially saying it would ignore a court order and set another hearing to allow the attorney general's office to be present RP, 11-12 (May 5, 2008)

The next hearing occurred on May 30, 2008. At that hearing, the State was represented by DPA Kevin Cure and CCO Payne was again No one from the attorney general's present RP, 4 (May 30, 2008) office appeared, however RP, 1 (May 30, 2008). Mr. Petterson's counsel represented without contradiction by the State that the attorney general's office had "no position one way or another how the court rules." RP, 3 (May 30, 2008). DPA Cure told the Court that his office had been in contact with both the Department of Corrections and the Indeterminate Sentence Review Board (ISRB) and neither body was taking a position. RP, 4 (May 30, 2008). The State was opposing the motion, however, RP, 4 (May 30, 2008) The Court ruled, after reviewing the statute, that it had the authority to modify the community custody conditions. RP, 5 (May 30, 2008). The Court signed an order modifying the community custody conditions to require that Mr. Petterson: (1) obey all laws; and (2) update the Department of any change in address or phone number. CP, 40. All other community custody conditions were suspended CP, 40. The Order stated it was subject to modification at any time by any party or the Department CP, 40. The Court orally admonished Mr. Petterson that if he were to violate the law, he would be back before the Court and "all the conditions could be put back on you." RP, 5 (May 30, 2008) This Order was not appealed by any party or the Department.

A DOC staff meeting was held on February 13, 2009. CP, 117

At that meeting, Mr Petterson's situation was discussed. The Department decided to comply with the Court order, but "if at any time, the offender fails to obey all laws (however minor) or information is received the offender is participating in illegal or risk-related behavior that the court be informed immediately and request a hearing for sentence modification" CP, 117

Since January 1, 2009, Mr. Petterson has maintained strict The Department regularly compliance with his conditions. CP, 98. conducts criminal history checks to ensure compliance CP, 98. Additionally, although Mr Petterson has no requirement to report to DOC, he has continued to report when requested by his CCO. CP, 98. The record shows he has reported thirteen times since January 1, 2009, including on January 9, 2009, February 6, 2009, February 13, 2009 (field call), October 12, 2011, June 20, 2012, July 29, 2013, August 6, 2013 (field visit), August 14, 2013, September 4, 2013, September 12, 2013 (field visit), October 1, 2013, May 21, 2014, and July 14, 2015 CP, 104 et seq. Mr. Petterson also requested and was granted permission to travel out of state for routine vacations on August 19, 2014 (Oregon), December 29, 2914 (Hawaii), and June 15, 2015 (Oregon). CP, 104 et seq. In each instance, Mr. Petterson promptly contacted DOC to advise them of his return to the state of Washington

On May 29, 2013, the Department filed a report indicating Mr. Petterson was in full compliance with his community custody. CP, 41. The next day, the Kitsap County Superior Court signed an Order removing him from the sex offender registry. CP, 41. This Order was not appealed by any party or the Department.

In July of 2013, an issue arose where Mr. Petterson indicated a desire to move to Minnesota. RP, 6 (August 9, 2013). This caused the Department to become concerned because Mr. Petterson was living in another state without notifying the state as required by the Interstate Compact. RP, 6 (August 9, 2013). The possibility that Mr. Petterson would want to move from the State of Washington was not one that was contemplated by the parties at the May 30, 2008 hearing. RP, 7 (August 9, 2013). The Department filed a document titled "Notice of Violation," although Mr. Petterson was not actually out of compliance. In response, Mr. Petterson filed a Motion to Clarify Conditions. CP, 47. A hearing was held and the parties entered a stipulation that Mr. Petterson would not leave the State of Washington without permission and would not move from the State of Washington without complying with the Interstate Compact CP, 52; RP, 7 (August 9, 2013). This Order was not appealed by any party or the Department.

Mr. Petterson decided not to petition under the Interstate Compact and move to Minnesota. He continued to remain in compliance with his

community custody. On April 29, 2014, Mr. Petterson notified the Department he intended to move to Redmond, Washington in King County on May 1, 2014 CP, 108. Over a year later, his case was transferred to a new CCO in King County CP, 106. This CCO decided to reinstate all community custody conditions as if Mr. Petterson were just starting his SSOSA CP, 105. A copy of the proposed conditions is in the record. CP, 120. Mr Petterson declined to sign the new conditions citing his earlier court orders. The Department decided to enlist the aid of the AG, who filed the Motion of DOC to Modify Conditions. Mr. Petterson responded in writing. CP, 95.

The trial court granted the Department's motion in a written memorandum on September 16, 2015. CP, 142. In the Order, the trial court ruled that the Department is free to impose community custody conditions pursuant to RCW 9.94A.715. CP, 145. Mr. Petterson appealed from this Order. CP, 148.

C. Argument

1. The Department is equitably estopped from bringing the motion to modify Mr. Petterson's community custody conditions seven years after it acquiesced in the modifications.

Before reaching the merits of Mr. Petterson's argument, it is worth noting the procedural posture of this appeal. When the sentencing

court originally modified the community custody conditions on May 30, 2008, the court had invited the Attorney General's office to appear. That office declined to appear and sent word through the Kitsap County Prosecutor's Office that they did not have position on the pending motion. The Order was entered and no one appealed. Seven years later, the Department then files a motion to vacate the Order because a new CCO was assigned to the case and did not like the order. Department should be equitably estopped from bringing this motion. A party seeking to apply equitable estoppel against the government must establish: (1) a party's admission, statement or act inconsistent with its later claim; (2) action by another party in reliance on the first party's act, statement or admission; (3) injury that would result to the relying party from allowing the first party to contradict or repudiate the prior act, statement or admission; (4) equitable estoppel must be necessary to prevent a manifest injustice; and (5) the exercise of governmental functions must not be impaired as a result of the estoppel. State v McInally, 125 Wn.2d 854, 106 P/3d 794 (2005).

In this case, the Department failed to take a position, despite the court's invitation that it do so. Mr. Petterson relied on the Department's action by complying with the community custody requirements. Putting him back on community custody as if he were starting his probation all over would cause great prejudice to him. There would be a manifest

injustice to start him over on probation. And government functions will not be impaired, as demonstrated by the fact that he was supervised in Kitsap County for seven years without incident prior to his move to King County The Department's motion should be foreclosed by equitable estoppel.

2. The trial court erred by concluding it did not have the statutory authority to modify the community custody conditions of a probationer serving a SSOSA sentence.

Mr. Petterson's situation presents an important issue of statutory construction that will affect thousands of offenders. Effective on September 1, 2001, the legislature created a new sentencing scheme for certain enumerated sex offenses RCW 9.94A 712 (later recodified as Sometimes referred to as Determinate Plus RCW 9.94A.507). sentencing, offenders sentenced pursuant receive a maximum sentence The maximum sentence is equal to the and minimum sentence. maximum penalty for the offense. Therefore, Mr. Petterson, who was convicted of a Class A felony sex offense, has a maximum sentence of life. The minimum sentence must be something within the standard range for the offense. In Mr. Petterson's case the standard range was 51 to 68 months and the Court set the minimum sentence as 68 months. Once a person has completed his or her minimum sentence, they are The offender released into the community on community custody

remains on community custody until he or she has completed the maximum sentence. Because most of the enumerated offenses in RCW 9.94A.712 are Class A felonies, most offenders are on community custody for life. Therefore, since 2001, the number of sex offenders added to the Department's caseload has increased at a relatively steady rate, while almost no offenders drop off the case load. Mr. Petterson, who committed his offense October 13, 2001, just 43 days after the effective date of the statute, represents one of the earliest, if not the earliest, probationer subject to lifetime probation. But as stated, the numbers are constantly increasing and only the death of the probationer removes a person from the Department's caseload.

Regardless of whether a person is subject to Determinate Plus sentencing, the offender has the opportunity to petition for a SSOSA sentence pursuant to RCW 9.94A.670. Mr. Petterson made such a petition and the petition was granted. When an offender is granted a SSOSA, the Court suspends the majority of the minimum sentence. In Mr. Petterson's case 62 months were suspended, with six months to serve immediately. Upon completion of the six months, Mr. Petterson was released from jail to start his community custody. He has, therefore, been in jail or on community custody for the past 14 years. Assuming an average life expectancy of 79 years, the Department is going to have to

supervise him for another 31 years despite the fact that he is deemed to be a low risk to re-offend.

Ordinarily, a sentence is final once it is imposed and may not be modified by the trial court. State v. Shove, 113 Wn.2d 83, 776 P.2d 132 (1989). But in reaching that conclusion, the Court said the following, "We hold that SRA sentences may be modified only if they meet the requirements of the SRA provisions relating directly to the modification of sentences." Shove at 89. The issue before this Court is whether a probationer who has been granted a SSOSA sentence pursuant to RCW 9 94A.670 but who remains on lifetime community custody pursuant to RCW 9 94A.712 (or 507) may have his community custody conditions modified by the Court. The answer to that question under the statute is clearly yes.

The issue of whether a sentencing court may modify the community custody conditions of a SSOSA candidate after imposition of the sentence appears to be one of first impression in Washington. But there are at least two cases that seem to presume this authority. In State v. Miller, 159 Wn App 911, 247 P.3d 457 (2011) the Defendant applied several times to have his SSOSA community custody conditions modified. For instance, the trial court modified the conditions to allow alcohol consumption and to pursue romantic relations with women without first getting permission from his CCO. The defendant also

months to 93 months. The Court of Appeals opinion seems to sanction the first two modifications, but not the latter *Miller* at 915-16. This discussion is dicta, however, given that the issue on appeal was the propriety of the SSOSA revocation, not the propriety of the earlier modifications. In *State v. Letourneau*, 100 Wn App. 424, 997 P 2d 436 (2000), after the trial court revoked the SSOSA sentence, the Court issued two orders "modifying and clarifying" the sentence. Although the Court of Appeals reversed the two orders, it did so on the merits and not because the trial court lacked the authority to modify the sentence.

There are twelve subsections to RCW 9.94A.670. Subsections (4), (5), (6) and (7) set forth the procedure at the sentencing hearing and lay out multiple mandatory and discretionary requirements for the sentencing court. Subsection (5) sets forth the mandatory requirements of a SSOSA sentence and reads, in relevant part:

- (5) As conditions of the suspended sentence, the court must impose the following:
 - (a)
- (b) A term of community custody equal to the length of the suspended sentence, the length of the maximum term imposed pursuant to RCW 9.94A 507, or three years, whichever is greater, and require the offender to comply with any conditions imposed by the department under RCW 9.94A 703.

(Emphasis added) In its motion in the trial court, the Attorney General's office emphasized this provision and argued the Department has the

authority to impose community custody conditions separate and apart from those ordered by the sentencing court pursuant to RCW 9.94A.703.

Mr. Petterson has never disagreed with this position. In fact, that is exactly what happened here. In the Judgment and Sentence the Court ordered, "Defendant shall report to DOC no later than 72 hours after release from custody and shall comply with all conditions stated in this Judgment and Sentence, including those checked in the Supervision Schedule, and other conditions imposed by the court or DOC during community custody." CP, 8. Mr. Petterson did not appeal from this order.

The final requirement at the sentencing hearing is that the judge set a treatment termination date: "(7) At the time of sentencing, the court shall set a treatment termination hearing for three months prior to the anticipated date for completion of treatment." Mr. Petterson's treatment termination date was set for October 4, 2005.

The treatment termination hearing did not go as expected, however. Instead of removing Mr Petterson from treatment, the trial court removed him from community custody (although the Department continued to supervise him in the interim). The error was not discovered for almost a year and it took a decision from this Court to determine with finality that Mr Petterson would continue to be on community custody for life. After this Court issued its Mandate, however, the parties

reconvened to decide what, if any, community custody conditions should be modified. The Court, after consulting the Kitsap County Prosecutor's Office and the Department of Corrections, and giving the Attorney General's Office an opportunity to respond, issued its Order of May 30, 2008, requiring Mr. Petterson to: (1) obey all laws; and (2) update the Department of any change in address or phone number CP, 40. The trial court was absolutely within its power to do so under subsection (9).

(9) At least fourteen days prior to the treatment termination hearing, notice of the hearing shall be given to the victim. The victim shall be given the opportunity to make statements to the court regarding the offender's supervision and treatment. Prior to the treatment termination hearing, the treatment provider and community corrections officer shall submit written reports to the court and parties regarding the offender's compliance with treatment and monitoring requirements, and recommendations regarding termination from treatment, including proposed community custody conditions. The court may order an evaluation regarding the advisability of termination from treatment by a sex offender treatment provider who may not be the same person who treated the offender under subsection (5) of this section or any person who employs, is employed by, or shares profits with the person who treated the offender under subsection (5) of this section unless the court has entered written findings that such evaluation is in the best interest of the victim and that a successful evaluation of the offender would otherwise be impractical. The offender shall pay the cost of the evaluation. At the treatment termination hearing the court may (a) Modify conditions of community custody, and either (b) terminate treatment, or (c) extend treatment in two-year increments for up to the remaining period of community custody.

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