## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

ERIK G. PETTERSON,

Appellant.

# BRIEF OF RESPONDENT WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

MANDY L. ROSE, WSBA #38506 Assistant Attorney General Corrections Division OID #91025 PO Box 40116 Olympia WA 98504-0116 (360) 586-1445 MandyR@atg.wa.gov

#

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

#### V. ARGUMENT

A. The Superior Court Correctly Concluded that the Statute Requires Mr. Petterson to Comply with Conditions Imposed by the Department During the Term of Community Custody

The superior court correctly determined that RCW 9.94A.670(5)(b) mandates that Mr. Peterson comply with conditions imposed by the Department of Corrections during the term of community custody. In light of express statutory language, the court had no discretion not to impose the statutory requirement.

The SSOSA statute expressly provides,

(5) As conditions of the suspended sentence, the court *must* impose the following:

. . .

(b) A term of community custody equal to . . . the length of the maximum term imposed pursuant to RCW 9.94A.507, . . . and require the offender to comply with any conditions imposed by the department under RCW 9.94A.703.

RCW 9.94A.670(5)(b) (emphasis added).

The same requirement existed in the SSOSA statute at the time Mr. Petterson committed his crime:

The court *shall* place the offender on community custody for . . . the length of the maximum term imposed pursuant to RCW 9.94A.712, . . . and *require the offender to comply with any conditions imposed by the department* under RCW 9.94A.720.

Former RCW 9.94A.670(4)(a) (2001) (emphasis added).

The SSOSA statute, both the prior and current versions, requires the sentencing court to order the offender to abide by conditions imposed by the Department during community custody. This is a mandatory statutory requirement.

The statute uses the term "must." The word "must" is a synonym of "shall" which imposes a mandatory requirement. See State v. Bartholomew, 104 Wn.2d 844, 848, 710 P.2d 196 (1985) (quoting Crown Cascade Inc. v. O'Neal, 100 Wn.2d 256, 668 P.3d 585 (1983)) (The general rule is that the word "shall" is presumptively imperative and operates to create a duty rather than conferring discretion.). The superior court was not authorized to remove this requirement. This is in contrast to the discretionary conditions listed in RCW 9.94A.670(6), which provides, "As conditions of the suspended sentence, the court may impose one or more of the following . . . . " (emphasis added). Use of the word "may" in a statute along with must or shall "indicates that the Legislature intended the two words to have different meanings: "may" being directory while "shall" being mandatory. Bartholomew, 104 Wn.2d. at 848. The statute allows the court not to impose the discretionary conditions, but requires the court to impose the mandatory conditions. As a result of this express statutory language, the superior court could not remove the requirement that Mr. Petterson comply with Department imposed conditions during his term of community custody.

Mr. Petterson argues that the court had authority to eliminate any and all conditions of community custody, including the requirement that Mr. Petterson comply with conditions imposed by the Department. But this argument ignores the plain statutory language that mandates the requirement to comply with conditions imposed by the Department. Moreover, an order eliminating all but two conditions, and prohibiting the Department from imposing any other conditions during community custody, effectively terminated community custody. The superior court recognized it did not intend to terminate community custody after the court terminated treatment. CP 22-23; CP 142-146. The court intended Mr. Petterson to remain on community custody.

Mr. Petterson also argues that the SSOSA statute allows the superior court to modify community custody conditions at any time, even after the court has terminated treatment. Brief of Appellant, at 18-19. But the provisions cited by Mr. Petterson do not support his argument because they apply only before and up to termination of treatment. The statute does not authorize the court to remove community custody conditions after treatment has ended. After treatment has ended, a court only has the authority to revoke the SSOSA sentence. Petterson's treatment ended in

2006. Therefore, the orders that the court entered in 2008 and 2013, which eliminated the Department's ability to impose any conditions, were without authority.

The SSOSA statute provides that the sentencing court may modify conditions during the treatment progress or termination hearings:

- (8)(b) The court shall conduct a hearing on the offender's progress in treatment at least once a year. . . . At the hearing, the court may modify conditions of community custody including, but not limited to, crime-related prohibitions and affirmative conditions relating to activities and behaviors identified as part of, or relating to precursor activities and behaviors in, the offender's offense cycle or revoke the suspended sentence.
- (9) . . . Prior to the *treatment termination hearing*, the treatment provider and community corrections officer shall submit written reports to the court and parties regarding the offender's compliance with treatment and monitoring requirements, and recommendations regarding termination from treatment, including proposed community custody conditions. . . . At the treatment termination hearing the court may: (a) Modify conditions of community custody, and either (b) terminate treatment, or (c) extend treatment in two-year increments for up to the remaining period of community custody.

#### RCW 9.94A.670 (emphasis added).

Subsections (8) and (9) expressly refer to modification of conditions during treatment and at the treatment termination hearing. These statutes govern the court's authority to modify conditions prior to termination of treatment. Nothing in the SSOSA statute allows the court to modify or remove community custody conditions after treatment has

ended. The SSOSA statute authorizes the court only to revoke the SSOSA sentence once treatment has ended: "The court may revoke the suspended sentence *at any time* during the period of community custody." RCW 9.94A.670(11) (emphasis added).

In *State v. Nunez*, 174 Wn.2d 707, 285 P.3d 21 (2012), the Supreme Court reiterated the longstanding constitutional principle that fixing penalties and punishments for criminal offenses is a legislative function. *Nunez*, 174 Wn.2d at 711; *see also In re Pers. Restraint of Coats*, 173 Wn.2d 123, 136, 267 P.3d 324 (2011); *State v. Smissaert*, 103 Wn.2d 636, 639, 694 P.2d 654 (1985). "The 'trial court's sentencing authority is limited to that expressly found in the statutes." *State v. Furman*, 122 Wn.2d 440, 456, 858 P.2d 1092 (1993) (quoting *State v. Theroff*, 33 Wn. App. 741, 744, 657 P.2d 800, *review denied*, 99 Wn.2d 1015 (1983)). "In Washington, the authority to sentence in felony cases is prescribed by the Sentencing Reform Act (SRA), RCW 9.94A." *State v. Skillman*, 60 Wn. App. 837, 839, 809 P.2d 756 (1991).

Under the SRA, the court generally loses jurisdiction to the Department of Corrections after entry of final judgment. *State v. Harkness*, 145 Wn. App. 678, 685, 186 P.3d 1182 (2008). A court has no inherent authority and only limited statutory authority to modify a sentence post-judgment. *Harkness*, 145 Wn. App. at 685; *see e.g.*, *State v.* 

Murray, 118 Wn. App. 518, 524, 77 P.3d 1188 (2003) (court was without authority to modify form of partial confinement from work release to home detention). The superior court has no power to modify the criminal judgment absent specific statutory authority. State v. Hardesty, 78 Wn. App. 593, 597, 897 P.2d 1282 (1995), reversed on other grounds by 129 Wn.2d 303, 915 P.2d 1080 (1996); State v. Sampson, 82 Wn.2d 663, 666, 513 P.2d 60 (1973). Modification of a judgment is not appropriate merely because it appears in retrospect that a different decision might have been preferable. State v. Shove, 113 Wn.2d 83, 88, 776 P.2d 132 (1989).

In *State v. Shove*, the Supreme Court determined that a court may modify an SRA sentence only if the sentence meets the statutory requirements relating directly to the modification of sentences. "The SRA only allows modification in certain specific and carefully delineated circumstances." *Harkness*, 145 Wn. App. at 685 (citing *Shove*, 113 Wn.2d at 86). The SRA defines the circumstances in which a person sentenced and committed to the supervision of the Department may be released from supervision prior to the expiration of the community custody term. *See* RCW 9.94A.501(3), (4). The SRA explicitly bars offenders such as Mr. Petterson who are sentenced under RCW 9.94A.670 from receiving early termination of their community custody. RCW 9.94A.501(4)(e).

Petterson cites to *State v. Miller*, 159 Wn. App 911, 247 P.3d 457 (2011) and *State v. Letourneau*, 100 Wn. App. 424, 997 P.2d 436 (2000) in support of his position. But even Petterson acknowledges he is relying on dicta. *See* Brief of Appellant, at 15-16. The superior court's September 16, 2015 order acknowledged the statutory requirement that the defendant is "required to follow any conditions imposed by the DOC under former RCW 9.94A.720." CP 144. The 2015 order corrected prior orders that had improperly removed this statutory requirement.

The plain reading of the statute supports the trial court's 2015 order. The order was not manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable reasons.

# B. Equitable Estoppel Does Not Bar the Department's Request for Modification of Mr. Petterson's Sentencing Conditions

Mr. Petterson argues that equitable estoppel precludes application of the statutory requirement that he comply with conditions imposed by the Department. In support, Mr. Petterson states the Attorney General's Office "did not have a position" and the Department "failed to take a position." Brief of Appellant, at 12. The absence of an earlier position, even if accurate, does not support the claim of equitable estoppel.

The elements of equitable estoppel are (1) a party's admission, statement or act is inconsistent with its later claim; (2) action by another

party in reliance on the first party's act, statement or admission and (3) injury would result to the relying party from allowing the first party to contradict or repudiate the prior act, statement, or admission. *Kramarevcky v. Department of Social and Health Services*, 122 Wn.2d 738, 743, 863 P.2d 535 (1993). Equitable estoppel against the government is not favored. *Kramarevcky*, 122 Wn.2d at 743 (quoting *Finch v. Matthews*, 74 Wn.2d 161, 169, 443 P.2d 833 (1968). Therefore, when equitable estoppel is asserted against the government, the party asserting the doctrine must also show estoppel is (1) necessary to prevent a manifest injustice and (2) the exercise of the governmental functions must not be impaired as a result of the estoppel. *Kramarevcky*, 122 Wn.2d at 743 (quoting *Shafer v. State*, 83 Wn.2d 618, 622, 521 P.2d 736 (1974)); *Finch*, 74 Wn.2d at 175.

First, Mr. Petterson cannot meet the first element necessary to assert equitable estoppel because, as he candidly admits, the Department did not take an earlier position. Brief of Appellant, at 12. Thus, the Department's current action cannot be inconsistent with an earlier position, where there is no earlier position. *See Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, et al. v. Shalala*, 177 F.3d 1126, 1130 (9th Cir. 1999) (For equitable estoppel to apply against the government, the government must have engaged in "affirmative misconduct going beyond mere negligence."); *Federal Way Disposal Co. v. City of Tacoma*, 11 Wn. App.

894, 897, 527 P.2d 1387 (1974) (Inaction is not an affirmative act for purposes of equitable estoppel).

And examining the record here shows that the Department's earlier position, to the extent it was communicated by CCO Payne, is not inconsistent with its current position.

In April 2008, Community Corrections Officer, Dave Payne, wrote a letter to defense counsel. CP 34. CCO Payne did state he recommended the Court terminate Mr. Petterson's supervision with the court. CP 34. But CCO Payne stated in that sentence, "[i]f it is within the authority of the Court." CP 35. CCO Payne was present at a hearing on May 5, 2008. RP, May 5, 2008. At this hearing, defense counsel argued the Court had the ability under the statute to set conditions of community custody at "whatever the court wants." RP, May 5, 2008, at 4. The Court inquired of CCO Payne who relayed his understanding that "whether you (the Court) modify those conditions or not, we are going to impose them because we have to." RP, May 5, 2008, at 4. The Court would have to terminate further supervision for the Department to be "out of the loop." RP, May 5, 2008, at 5. The Court questioned CCO Payne asking for clarification of his position to which CCO Payne stated that, "because of the offense that had been committed and because of the liability, we would impose those conditions. I am mandated." RP May 5, 2008. Defense counsel argued,

correctly, to the Court that the Department cannot impose conditions that contravene or decrease court-imposed conditions. RP May 5, 2008, at 6. In response, CCO Payne stated the statute "just says decrease. It doesn't say that we can't increase." RP May 5, 2008, at 6. And the Court clearly stated the Department's request was for termination of community custody, which the court was without authority to do, and the issue the Court was considering was modification. RP May 5, 2008, at 12. If anything, the statements of CCO Payne support the Department's current position that it is required to impose its own conditions as long as it is supervising Mr. Petterson.

Nor can Mr. Petterson meet the second element of the equitable estoppel test because he did not rely on the Department's prior actions.

Rather, he merely complied with court orders

Finally, there is no injury to Mr. Petterson. Mr. Petterson argues that putting him back on community custody as if he were starting probation all over would "cause him great prejudice" and would be a manifest injustice. Brief of Appellant, at 12-13. To establish an injury, a party must establish he or she "justifiably relied to his or her detriment on the words or conduct of another." *Kramarevcky*, 122 Wn.2d at 747 (quoting *Safeco Ins. Co. of Am. V. Butler*, 118 Wn.2d 383, 405, 823 P.2d 499 (1992)). As noted by the court, the Department's position pertained to

termination of community custody. RP, May 5, 2008, at 12. As to the modification of Mr. Petterson's community custody, defense counsel represented to the court the Attorney General's Office had "no position on it one way or the other how the Court rules." RP May 30, 2008, at 2-3. In making the order, the Court stated, "I understand the Department's chosen not to appear or make any written – provide any written input for the Court, and I am satisfied based on my research of the law . . . ." RP May 30, 2008, at 5.

Mr. Petterson cannot establish he "justifiably relied" on any position of the Department to his "detriment." The Court made it clear that any party and the Department of Corrections could seek modification of its order *at any time*. CP 40. The Department did not take a position on modification of Mr. Petterson's conditions and compliance with the court's order regarding conditions of community custody is both required and a benefit to Mr. Petterson. Doing so allows him to remain in the community.

Finally, it is not manifestly unjust for the Department to request a court order that Mr. Petterson comply with conditions imposed by the Department when that condition is statutorily mandated. To the contrary, it would be manifestly unjust to allow Mr. Petterson an exception to that statutory requirement that is not granted to other SSOSA offenders.

Mr. Petterson cannot use equitable estoppel against the government to avoid compliance with statute. *See Dept. of Ecology v. Theodoratus*, 135 Wn.2d 582, 599, 957 P.2d 1241 (1998) (Where the representations allegedly relied upon are matters of law, rather than fact, equitable estoppel will not be applied); *Dept. of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C.*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 20, 43 P.3d 4 (2002) (Equitable estoppel does not apply against the government when the meaning of a statutory provision is at issue); *Heckler v. Community Health Services of Crawford County, Inc.*, 467 U.S. 51, 61-62, 104 S. Ct. 2218, 81 L. Ed. 2d 42 (1984) (A private party cannot show reliance to his detriment when asserting equitable estoppel against the government when his detriment is the inability to retain money he never should have received in the first place.).

Mr. Petterson does not demonstrate a basis for equitable estoppel against the Department.

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

#### VI. CONCLUSION

The superior court correctly concluded that the statute requires Mr. Petterson comply with conditions imposed by the Department of Corrections during community custody. Mr. Petterson does not show an error. The Court should affirm.